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Respondent Daniel B. Mowrey, Ph.D. ("Dr. Mowrey ) submits the following

memorandum opposing Complaint Counsel' s motion for in camera review and for sanctions (the

Motion

INTRODUCTION

In response to the Cour' s recent Order on Complaint Counsel's Motion to Compel

Production of Dr. Mowrey s Expert-Related Documents Order ), Dr. Mowrey has produced all

," 



documents from Dr. Mowrey that do not relate to his capacity as an expert or to the formation 

his expert opinion in this case, Complaint Counsel' s motion is DENIED IN PART. Id.

However, Complaint Counsel are apparently not satisfied with the Court' s denial of their

motion to compel Dr. Mowrey to produce documents not related to his capacity as an expert

witness and the formation of his expert report. Accordingly, Complaint Counsel have filed their

Motion, accusing Dr. Mowrey of flagrantly violating the Cour' s Order by not producing what

Complaint Counsel characterize as large numbers of documents which Complaint Counsel claim

are subject to production under the Order, while essentially ignoring the Court' s ruling that Dr.

Mowrey is not required to produce non-expert related documents. ! In so doing, Complaint

Counsel paint a misleading pictue of the nature of this dispute , a misleading picture of the

numbers of documents at issue, and a misleading pictue of the level of Dr. Mowrey

compliance with the Cour' s Order.

For example , Complaint Counsel assert that, in response to the Cour' s Order, Dr.

Mowrey has produced only a "few " or "only a small portion of the expert-related documents.

Complaint Counsels ' Motion at 3. Complaint Counsel assert that Dr. Mowrey has "failed to

produce numerous communications and documents. . . Id. at 4. What Complaint Counsel fail

to disclose to the Court, however, is the actual number of documents produced by Dr. Mowrey,

and the actual number of documents at issue in Complaint Counsel' s Motion. For example

! Complaint Counsel' s Motion also ignores the fact that, with respect to some of the
documents Complaint Counsel seek, in a prior expert discovery related order, the Cour
specifically ruled that Complaint Counsel' s expert witnesses did not have to produce the types of
documents Complaint Counsel seek through their Motion. See, e. , Order On Complaint
Counsel' s Second Motion For Protective Order dated 9 December 2004 (the "Order Governng
Expert Discovery



before the Court entered the Order, Dr. Mowrey had already produced to Complaint Counsel

over nine hundred pages of documents he had read, reviewed, considered and/or relied on his

forming his expert report. Then, subsequent to the Court' s Order, Dr. Mowrey produced an

additional thirt-seven (37) pages of documents. Thus , as of the date of this memorandum , Dr.

Mowrey has produced almost one thousand pages of expert related documents , almost twenty-

five times the 40 pages of documents Complaint Counsel seek through their motion.

As discussed in more detail below, and contrary to Complaint Counsel' s assertions of

alleged wilful and flagrant violations of the Order, Complaint Counsel' s Motion stems from a

disagreement over the interpretation and scope ofthe Cour' s Order, not from any deliberate or

flagrant violation of the Order. The undersigned interprets the Order in a manner consistent with

2 Dr. Mowrey s privilege log identified 191 documents through 8 December 2004. 
explained below, twenty-six (26) of the pages recently produced by Dr. Mowrey were listed on
the privilege log, four (4) were documents created after 8 December 2004 (the last date on
documents identified on the privilege log), and seven (7) pages were an attachment to an email
that Dr. Mowrey s counsel had mistakenly believed had been produced on 10 January 2005.
Thus, of the 191 documents listed on the privilege log, Dr. Mowrey produced twenty-six of them.
Of the remaining 165 pages of documents identified on the privilege log, Complaint Counsel
seek production of 40 pages. Thus , although Complaint Counsel fail to forthrightly acknowledge
it in their Motion, even Complaint Counsel concede that at least 125 of the 165 pages of
documents listed on the privilege log have been properly withheld by Dr. Mowrey

3 As explained below, one of the documents identified on the privilege log which
Complaint Counsel seek (Document Bates No. 91) is an email from Carla Fobbs (head of the
Corporate Respondents ' compliance department) to Dr. Mowrey, forwarding to Dr. Mowrey an
email which Ms. Fobbs had received from Nicole Slatter (a paralegal with counsel for
Respondent Dennis Gay). The email from Ms. Slatter to Ms. Fobbs references notes of
Respondent Gay s counsel' s interviews with certain potential fact witnesses (not Dr. Mowrey).
The notes of those interviews , although not specifically listed on the privilege log, are
attachments to Ms. Slatter s email to Ms. Fobbs. However, Dr. Mowrey testifies that he has
never opened, read, reviewed or otherwise considered those attached notes of the interviews with
the potential fact witnesses. Declaration of Daniel B. Mowrey, Ph.D. in Opposition to
Complaint Counsel's Motionfor Sanctions dated 15 September 2005 ("Mowrey Supp. Dec. ) at
, 11.



the Court' s Order Governing Expert Discovery, and the Court' Order On Complaint Counsel'

Motion To Compel A Document From Respondents ' Testifing Expert Solan dated 19 January

2005 (the "Second Order Governing Expert Discovery

-- 

, that Dr. Mowrey was required to

produce all documents he created, read, considered, reviewed and/or relied upon in his capacity

as an expert witness in this case , including all documents he created, reviewed, considered or

relied upon in connection with the formation!creation of his expert report/opinion, that had not

previously been produced, including "communications with his attorney, the other Respondents

and the other Respondents ' attorneys. " That is precisely what Dr. Mowrey has produced. Dr.

Mowrey has thus complied with the Cour' s Order because he has in fact produced all Expert
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documents Dr. Mowrey did not read, review, consider or rely upon in connection with forming

his expert report/opinion.

Complaint Counsel further assert that any document which Dr. Mowrey has ever

reviewed which mentions or relates to any author of any scientific study relates to Dr. Mowrey

capacity as an expert witness and his expert opinion, even if those documents (a) were reviewed

before Dr. Mowrey was ever asked to be or was designated as an expert witness , (b) were

received, read and reviewed by Dr. Mowrey solely in his capacity as a Respondent, and (c) were

never read, reviewed, considered or relied upon by Dr. Mowrey in connection with forming his

expert report/opinion.

For example , Complaint Counsel seek to obtain documents relating to notes of interviews

which Respondents ' counsel conducted of a variety of potential fact witnesses (not Dr. Mowrey)

(the "Attorney Interview Documents ), as well as documents relating to Respondents ' Counsel'



expert opinion. Thus , Complaint Counsel assert they are entitled to a copy of Documents Bates

Nos. 166- 167, which documents relate solely to Respondents ' and their counsels ' deliberations

concerning potential expert witnesses.

However, the Attorney Interview Documents and the Potential Expert Witnesses

Documents have nothing to do with Dr. Mowrey



Complaint Counsel' s strained reading of the Order goes way too far. If Complaint

Counsel' s interpretation is correct, then Dr. Mowrey would arguably be required to produce

virtually every dOCllllent he has ever revievved in cOll11ection with this matter, regardless of when

it was created, regardless of whether he viewed the document solely in his capacity as a

Respondent, and regardless of whether he read, reviewed, considered or relied upon it in

connection with preparing his expert opinion!report. It would also arguably require Dr. Mowrey

to produce everyhing he has published, and all documents he may possess or which he has ever

read at any time , which mention any author of any scientific study discussed in Dr. Mowrey

report, or which mention any topic addressed in that report. Dr. Mowrey does not believe the

Cour' s Order was intended to embrace such an extraordinar and burdensome universe. Indeed

it would be directly contrary to the Court' s prior ruling concernng the scope of expert discovery

(see, e.

g., 

Order Governing Expert Discovery), and would eviscerate the Court' s ruling that Dr.

Mowrey was not required to produce non-expert related documents.

In short, Dr. Mowrey has fully complied with the Cour' s Order. Complaint Counsels

insistence on an unreaso1 whe2uireeprepaentioexcndes g cre whg the scope oe the Court's Ordrt



STATEMENT OF FACTS

FACTS RELATING To THE DOCUMENTS AT ISSUE

Pursuant to the Order, Dr. Mowrey is required to produce "all documents that

relate to his capacity as an expert witness , including communications with his attorney, the other

Respondents , and the other Respondents ' attorneys. " Order at 3. The Order further provides that

(t)o the extent that Complaint Counsel' s motion (to compel) is aimed at compelling production

of documents from Dr. Mowrey that do not relate to his capacity as an expert or to the formation

of his expert opinion in this case , Complaint Counsel's motion is DENIED IN PART." Id. The

Cour then directed Dr. Mowrey to produce documents within five (5) business days after 9

August 2005 -- i. , on or before 16 August 2005.

On 16 August 2005 , Dr. Mowrey produced to Complaint Counsel what he

believed to be all documents required to be produced by the Order. Specifically, Dr. Mowrey

produced to Complaint Counsel all remainng documents that he had read, considered, reviewed

or relied upon in his capacity as an expert witness, including in connection with forming his

expert report/opinion. Those documents consisted ofthirt (30) pages of documents , twenty-six

(26) of which had been listed on the privilege log, and four (4) of which were documents created

4 (...continued)
testimony as both a fact and expert witness is improper. . . every federal cour to consider the
issue of dual testimony as both a fact and expert witness has concluded that the Federal Rules 
Evidence permit such testimony

). 

See also us. v. Tocco 200 F .3d 401 , 418 (6 Cir. 2000)
CiU of 



after the last date of documents identified on the privilege log. See, e.

g., 

Letter from Ronald F.

Price to Complaint Counsel, dated 16 August 2005 , a copy of which is attached hereto as Exhibit

In the 16 August 2005 letter, the undersigned stated that " (w)ith respect to

attachments referenced in some of the emails itis my understanding that those documents have

been produced previously. Accordingly, they are not reproduced herewith. It is my

understanding that Dr. Mowrey has now produced all documents which he has which relate to his

capacity as an expert witness in this case. See Exhibit A.

S Complaint Counsel make much ado in their Motion about the fact that four of the pages

produced on 16 August 2005 were not listed on Dr. Mowrey s privilege log. However, as has
previously been explained, the privilege log only listed documents through 8 December 2004
because that is the date on which Respondents provided Dr. Mowrey s expert report, and
Respondents ' responses to the Second and Fourh Requests had been provided on 14 November
2004 , and 1 December 2004 , respectively. Accordingly, the latest date for documents identified
on the privilege log was tied to the date of the discovery responses , and the date of Dr. Mowrey
report. Price Dec. at' 35. See also Letter from Ronald F. Price to Complaint Counsel , dated 2

March 2005 , a copy of which is attached as Exhibit G to Respondent Daniel B. Mowrey
Response to Complaint Counsels ' Motion to Compel Dr. Mowrey to Produce His Confidential
Attorney-Client Communications, Joint-Defense Communications, and Documents Protected by
the Work Product Doctrine. Thus , there is no mystery to the fact that when Complaint Counsel
provided their rebuttal reports on 27 December 2004 , that such reports were forwarded by email
to Dr. Mowrey. The fact Dr. Mowrey subsequently produced the post 8 December 2004
documents , even though they were not listed on the privilege log and thus previously unkown to
Complaint Counsel, demonstrates that Dr. Mowrey was not trying to hide the documents.

The absurdity of Complaint Counsel' s argument on this particular point is further
demonstrated by the fact that on 13 January 2005 , Complaint Counsel produced to Respondents
an amended privilege log. However, the latest document on that amended privilege log bears a
date of 16 December 2004. It is hard to believe that Complaint Counsel did not generate any
privileged documents during the time frame of 17 December 2004 and 13 January 2005
especially given all the depositions the parties were taking during that time frame. Yet it is
doubtful that Complaint Counsel would concede that their failure to list post- 17 December 2004
documents on their privilege log of 13 January 2005 is evidence of a deliberate attempt to hide
documents.



On 17 August 2005 , Complaint Counsel sent a letter indicating, inter alia that

because the attachments to the recently produced emails had been produced separately (in

January 2005), Complaint Counsel were unable to determine which attachments were associated

with which specific email, and Complaint Counsel requested that the undersigned provide

information which would allow Complaint Counsel to make that determination. In order to

provide the requested assistance to Complaint Counsel, on 22 August 2005 the undersigned sent

Complaint Counsel a letter wherein the undersigned specifically identified for Complaint

Coullselwhich emails were associated with which attachments. During this process , the

undersigned discovered, for the first time , that contrary to his prior belief, one of the attachments

to one of the emails had inadvertently been omitted from the 10 Januar 2005 production.

Specifically, it was learned that the attachment to an email from Dr. Mowrey to the undersigned

dated 9 November 2004 , had inadvertently not been produced. This discovery was immediately

disclosed to Complaint Counsel, and the inadvertently omitted attachment was produced. See

g., 

Letter from Ronald F. Price to Joshua Milard dated 22 August 2005 , a copy of which is

attached hereto as Exhibit B. 

6 As set forth in the Mowrey Supp. Dec.
, and the Declaration of Ronald F. Price in

Opposition to Complaint Counsel's Motionfor Sanctions Price Supp. Dec. ), when Dr.
Mowrey provided documents to his counsel for production to the FTC in January 2005 , Dr.
Mowrey believed he had printed out and delivered to his counsel all of the attachment "drafts" of
his reports that he had emailed to his counsel. When the undersigned' s office produced those
documents to Complaint Counsel on 10 January 2005 , the undersigned (who was traveling to
New York for the deposition of Complaint Counsel' s expert) believed that he produced to
Complaint Counsel all such drafts. When this inadvertent error was discovered, it was
immediately brought to Complaint Counsel' s attention, and the inadvertently omitted attachment
was produced.



As discussed in Dr. Mowrey s memorandum opposing Complaint Counsel'

initial motion to compel, Respondents did not decide to designate Dr. Mowrey as an expert

witness until 13 October 2004 , the very day on which Respondents served their expert witness

list. Furthermore, Dr. Mowrey had no communications of any kind with any Respondent or any

counsel concerning his role as an expert witness until approximately 18 October 2004 after

Respondents had already designated him as a possible expert witness. See, e.

g., 

Declaration of

Daniel B. Mowrey, Ph.D. dated 21 July 2005 ("Mowrey Dec. )" 10-11; Declaration of Ronald

F. Price , dated 21 July 2005 ("Price Dec. ) at" 5- , previously submitted.

On 12 October 2004 , a draft of Respondents ' proposed witness list was circulated

amongst Respondents ' joint legal defense team. That draft did not include Dr. Mowrey as a

potential expert witness. On the 13 October 2004 , Respondents ' counsel decided to identify Dr.

Mowrey as a potential expert witness. That was the first time Respondents decided to designate

Dr. Mowrey as a potential expert witness. Respondents ' finalized expert witness list , which was

served on Complaint Counsel the afternoon of 13 October 2004 , identified Dr. Mowrey as a

potential expert witness. Price Dec. at' 6.

As of 13 October 2005 , Dr. Mowrey had not had a single communication with any

Respondent or any counsel for Respondents, including his own counsel, about being identified on

Respondents ' witness list as a potential expert witness. Mowrey Dec. , 13. See also Price Dec.

at " 7-

On about 18 October 2005 , Dr. Mowrey and his counsel had a conversation

concerning the fact that Respondents had identified Dr. Mowrey as a potential expert witness.





representing Respondent Gay. The email also identifies other potential fact

witnesses who Respondent Gay s counsel was attempting to interview. Price

Supp. Dec. at' 11. Dr. Mowrey testifies that he has never opened, read

considered, or otherwise reviewed the interview notes attached to the email. See

g., 

Mowrey Supp. Dec. at' 11.

Bates No. 94 . This is an email dated 29 September 2004 (more

than two weeks before Dr. Mowrey was designated as an expert witness) from Dr.

Mowrey s counsel to the Corporate Respondents ' prior counsel , Respondent

Gay s counsel, Ms. Slatter, Ms. Fobbs , Mr. Watson, and Respondents Friedlander

and Dr. Mowrey. This document relates solely to a telephone conference which

the undersigned had with a potential fact witness. That potential witness was not

Dr. Mowrey, and was not an author of any scientific study mentioned in Dr.

Mowrey s report or in any of Complaint Counsel's experts ' reports. See, e.

g.,

Price Supp. Dec. at' 12. Furhermore , Dr. Mowrey testifies that although he

believes he read the email on or about the date it was sent, he did not read or

7 As set forth in the accompanying Declaration of Ronald F. Price in Opposition to

Complaint Counsel's Motion for Sanctions ("Price Supp. Dec. "), the notes relate to counsel's
interviews with three potential witnesses who are not authors of any scientific study of any kind
and with one potential witnesses who is an author of a scientific study discussed in Dr. Mowrey
report. Complaint Counsel concede in their motion that notes of interviews with non-authors are
not discoverable. See, e. , Motion at n.8. Thus , of these attorney interview notes , it appears that
the only notes which Complaint Counsel claim they are entitled to obtain are notes ofMr. Gay
counsel' s interview with a study author. However



review the email after he had been designated as an expert witness , and did not

read, consider, review or rely upon the email in connection with preparing his

expert report/opinion. Moreover, Complaint Counsel concede in their Motion that

they are not entitled to notes of interviews with potential fact witnesses who are

not authors of any of the scientific studies mentioned in Dr. Mowrey s report.

See, e.

g., 

Motion at 11- , n. 8. Given such admission, Complaint Counsel are

not entitled to obtain a copy of Document Bates No. 94.

11. Complaint Counsel seek production of documents which relate solely to

discussions between Respondents and their counsel concerning potential expert witnesses (not

Dr. Mowrey). The document at issue , Bates Nos. 166- 167 , is an email dated 22 November 2004

from Mr. Watson to Ms. Fobbs , and to Respondents Friedlander and Dr. Mowrey. During the 22

November 2004 time frame , Respondents and their counsel had discussions concernng the

possibility of designating additional expert witnesses. Document Bates Nos. 166- 167 identifies

certain potential expert witnesses which Respondents were considering, but did not designate in

this case. None of the persons identified in this document is an author of any of the scientific

studies mentioned in Dr. Mowrey s expert report. Price Supp. Dec. at' 13. Complaint Counsel

have conceded, in footnote no. 8 of their Motion, that they do not seek production of this

document if the persons identified in the document are not authors of any of the scientific studies

referenced in Dr. Mowrey s expert report.8 Furthermore , the document does not mention or refer

8 Dr. Mowrey believes Complaint Counsel were not even entitled to know whether any of
the persons identified on this document were or were not authors of any scientific study referred
to in Dr. Mowrey s report, as such information is work product, and because Dr. Mowrey
testimony is clear that he did not read, review, consider or rely upon this document in his

(continued... )



to Dr. Mowrey s expert opinion or report, and is wholly unrelated to Dr. Mowrey s capacity as an

expert witness and his expert opinion!report. Indeed, Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received, read

considered, and reviewed this document solely in his capacit'j as a Respondent in this case , and

that he did not read, consider, review or rely upon this document in his capacity as an expert

witness , or in connection with his expert opinion!report. Mowrey Supp. Dec. at' 13.

12. Many of the documents Complaint Counsel demand were created before

Respondents ever decided to designate Dr. Mowrey as an expert witness. These documents are

as follows:

Bate Nos. 26-32. These documents are a series of emails on 9

August 2004 between Dr. Mowrey s counsel and Ms. Fobbs (and copied to Dr.

Mowrey). The emails relate solely to efforts to arrange a meeting between Dr.

Mowrey and the Corporate Respondent's counsel (a meeting which did not

occur). See, e.

g., 

Price Supp. Dec. at' 14. The documents contain no

substantive information of any kind. Id. Furhermore, Dr. Mowrey testifies that

he received and reviewed these documents solely in his capacity as a Respondent

in this case, that he did not read, consider, review or rely upon these documents

after having been designated as an expert witness, and that he did not read

8 (...continued)
capacity as an expert, or in connection with forming his expert report/opinion. Nevertheless , in
light of the fact that Complaint Counsel have conceded in their Motion that, even under their
interpretation of the Order, they are entitled to this document only if it mentions an author of one
of the scientific studies mentioned in Dr. Mowrey s report, Dr. Mowrey has chosen to disclose
the fact that none of the persons identified in the document is an author of any scientific study
cited in Dr. Mowrey s expert report. Accordingly, the Court need not waste time reviewing 

camera a document which Complaint Counsel have conceded is not subject to production.



consider, review or rely upon these documents in his capacity as an expert

witness , or in connection with his expert opinion!report. Mowrey Supp. Dec. at'

14.

Bates Nos. 54- . This is an email dated 21 August 2004 from

Respondent Friedlander to Dr. Mowrey and Luigi Rinaldo (an employee of the

Corporate Respondents). The email has a subject identified as "placebo " and

consists of a copy of a scientific study relating to placebos which Respondent

Friedlander forwarded to Dr. Mowrey. The specific scientific study referenced in

this email is not cited in Dr. Mowrey



(from Dr. Mowrey to Ms. Fobbs), and 20 September 2004 (from Dr. Mowrey to

Ms. Fobbs), respectively, relating to certain potential fact witnesses (not Dr.

Movney). The documents contain absolutely no substantive information

concerning the potential fact witnesses identified in the documents. Rather, they

simply identify certain potential fact witnesses and their potential contact

information. Price Supp. Dec. at , 16. Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received and

reviewed these documents solely in his capacity as a Respondent in this case, that

he did not read, consider, review or rely upon these documents after having been

designated as an expert witness , and that he did not read, consider, review or rely

upon these documents in his capacity as an expert witness , or in connection with

his expert opinion!report. Mowrey Supp. Dec at' 16.

Bates No. 9!. This document is discussed supra in , 11.

Bates Nos. 92- . These documents are an email string consisting

of (i) an email dated 27 September 2004 from Ms. Fobbs to Respondent Gay

counsel and his paralegal (and copied to Dr. Mowrey s counsel and the Corporate

Respondents ' counsel), (ii) an email dated 27 September 2004 from Dr. Mowrey

counsel to Ms. Fobbs , and (iii) an email dated 27 September 2004 from Ms. Fobbs

to Dr. Mowrey s counsel (and copied to Dr. Mowrey). These emails relate to

Respondent Gay s counsel' s investigation of the facts and background of potential

witnesses in this case 

--- 

in this instance , Dr. Mowrey, and involves a request by

Mr. Gay s counsel for a copy of Dr. Mowrey s CV , which Mr. Gay s counsel was

seeking as part of his investigation of the facts and fact witnesses in this case. 



has previously been disclosed to Complaint Counsel, part of the process which

any trial lawyer or legal team goes through in investigating a case is to become as

familiar as possible with the parties to the case, the parties ' backgrounds , and the

background of potential fact witnesses. These emails relating to Dr. Mowrey

CV relate solely to Respondents ' counsels ' investigation concernng the facts and

background of the case , and the potential fact witnesses in the case 

-- 

in this case

Dr. Mowrey. It had nothing to do with Dr. Mowrey s role as an expert witness.

Price Supp. Dec. at , 17. Indeed, Respondents did not even discuss or determine

to call Dr. Mowrey as an expert witness until well after these documents were

created. Dr. Mowrey also notes that the email string to Dr. Mowrey did not

include a copy of the CylO Morever, Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received and

reviewed these documents solely in his capacity as a Respondent in this case , that

he did not read, consider, review or rely upon these documents after having been

designated as an expert witness , and that he did not read, consider, review or rely

upon these documents in his capacity as an expert witness , or in connection with

his expert opinion!report. Mowrey Supp. Dec. at' 17.

Bates No. 94 . This document, relating to attorney notes of an

interview with a potential fact witness, is discussed supra in , 12., lcus "ng to do with , the parter in this case



phrase request. No further information can be provided concerning the specific

request without divulging the request itself. However, the document was

received, read and reviewed by Dr. Mowrey before Respondents ever discussed or

determined to identify Dr. Mowrey as an expert witness. Furthermore, Dr.

Mowrey testifies that he received and reviewed this document solely in his

capacity as a Respondent in this case , that he did not read, consider or review this

document after having been designated as an expert witness , and that he did not

read, consider, review or rely upon this document in his capacity as an expert

witness, or in connection with forming his expert opinion!report. Mowrey Supp.

Dec. at' 18.



testifies that the documents referenced in the emails are not documents created by

him, that he received, read and reviewed these emails solely in his capacity as a

Respondent in this case , that he did not read, consider or review these emails after

having been designated as an expert witness , and that he did not read, consider

review or rely upon these emails in his capacity as an expert witness, or in

connection with forming his expert opinion!report. Mowrey Supp. Dec. at , 19.

13. Complaint Counsel seek production of the following documents in addition to

those identified above:

Bates Nos. 135- 141,151- 152. 184 . These documents consist of the

following emails: (i) Dr. Mowrey s counsel to Ms. Fobbs (copied to Dr. Mowrey)

dated 11/01/04 , (ii) Ms. Fobbs to Dr. Mowrey s counsel dated 11/01/04 , (iii) Dr.

Mowrey s counsel to Ms. Fobbs dated 11/01/04 , (iv) Ms. Fobbs to Heather Sprik

(with the Corporate Respondents ' Compliance Department) dated 11/01/04 , (v)

Ms. Sprik to Dr. Mowrey dated 11/01/04 , (vi) Ms. Sprik to Dr. Mowrey dated

11/03/04 , (vii) Ms. Fobbs to Ms. Sprik dated 11/11/04 , (viii) Ms. Sprik to Dr.

Mowrey dated 11/11/04, and (ix) Ms. Sprik to Dr. Mowrey dated 12/03/04. These

emails all relate to a request by Dr. Mowrey s counsel for copies of certain

documents. Specifically, the emails concern a request for assistance in locating

materials previously published by Dr. Mowrey (all of which are identified on Dr.

Mowrey s CV). Other than identifying the documents requested by Dr. Mowrey

counsel, these emails contain no substantive information concernng the requested

materials. Price Supp. Dec. at' 20. Furthermore , in its Order Governing Expert



Discovery, this Court expressly ruled that experts did not have to produce their

prior publications. Moreover, Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received, read and

reviewed these emails solely in his capacity as a Respondent in this case, and that

he did not read, consider, review or rely upon these emails in his capacity as an

expert witness , or in connection with forming his expert opinion!report. Mowrey

Supp. Dec. at' 20.

Bates Nos.165, 168 . These documents consist of the following: (i)

Document Bates No. 165 is an email from Dr. Mowrey s counsel to Dr. Mowrey

dated 22 November 2004; and (ii) Document Bates No. 168 is an email string

consisting ofthe following email: (1) Dr. Mowrey s counsel to Ms. Fobbs and Mr.

Watson (copied to the Corporate Respondents



They were unrelated to Dr. Mowrey s expert report/opinion, and the emails

contain absolutely no substantive information concern the ColkerlKalman paper

or concerning Dr. Colker and Mr. Kalman. Furthermore , as Complaint Counsel

are aware , the "ColkerlKalman paper" referenced in these two emails has been

produced to Complaint Counsel on at least two (2) separate occasions. Price

Supp. Dec. at' 21.

With respect to the 22 November 2004 email from Dr. Mowrey s counsel

to Ms. Fobbs and Mr. Watson (copied to the Corporate Respondents ' counsel , Mr.

Gay s counsel, and Respondents Dr. Mowrey & Friedlander) which is part of

Document Bates No. 168 , that document relates solely to Respondents ' litigation

strategy and potential discovery to undertake. Price Supp. Dec. at' 22.

Moreover, Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received, read and reviewed these

documents solely in his capacity as a Respondent in this case , and that he did not

read, consider, review or rely upon these documents in his capacity as an expert

witness , or in connection with forming his expert opinion!report. Mowrey Supp.

Dec. at' 21.

FACTS RELATING To COMPLAINT COUNSEL' S AND THEIR EXPERT' S VIOLATION OF
THE COURT' S ORDERS

In considering Complaint Counsel' s request for sanctions, this Cour should be mindful

of Complaint Counsel's and their expert' s own multiple violations of their discovery obligations

and this Cour orders , and should bear in mind the remedies thus far allowed in these



proceedings. Accordingly, the following facts will address some of Complaint Counsel' s and

their expert' s violations.

14. As the Court will recall, in flagrant violation of the Cour' s protective order

Complaint Counsel caused some of the Corporate Respondents ' most highly confidential

information and documents (which were clearly marked as attorneys ' eyes only) to be posted on

the internet.

15. This Cour found that there had been a serious violation of the Court' s protective

order, and referred Respondents ' contempt motion and related motion to compel production of

web log/server information to the Commission.

16. The Commission refused to impose any fines on Complaint Counsel, refused to

hold any contempt proceedings , and refused to sanction Complaint Counsel. Instead, the

Commission simply ordered Complaint Counsel to have any future fiings reviewed by another

employee of the Commission before being fied.

17. The scheduling order in this case provides , in part, that " (a)t the time an expert is

first listed as a witness by a part, the listing part wil provide to the other part: (a) materials

fully describing or identifying the background and qualifications of the expert, list of all

publications , and all prior cases in which the expert has testified or has been deposed; and (b)

transcripts of such testimony in the possession, custody or control of the listing par or the

expert." Scheduling Order

, , 

11.

18. Complaint Counsel and their expert, Dr. Heymsfield, have failed to comply with

the scheduling order in numerous respects:





report (Complaint Counsel may assert that no drafts existed), any communications

between Dr. Heymsfield and Complaint Counsel, or, other than approximately 65

pages of documents , did not include any of the literally thousands of pages of

documents which Complaint Counsel had provided to Dr. Heymsfield in

connection with his role as an expert witness in this case. Id. Instead, Complaint

Counsel and Dr. Heymsfield did not produce those documents until 14 December

2004 (they were received on 16 December 2004), and then only in response to a

subpoena which Dr. Mowrey had served on Dr. Heymsfield. 11 
Id. And, even

then, Dr. Heymsfield did not produce all the required documents , as he produced

documents in Januar 2005 , and again in February 2005. Id.

19. Dr. Mowrey does not seek to use Complaint Counsel' s and their expert'

violations of the Court' s orders as justification for his interpretation of the Cour 9 August 2005

Order. Rather, Dr. Mowrey simply notes these clear violations to demonstrate that Complaint

Counsel do not come before this Court with clean hands. Dr. Mowrey further notes these

violations so that Complaint Counsel' s request for sanctions can be viewed in light of Complaint

Counsel' s own violations , and the relief awarded by this Court and the Commission with respect

to those violations.

11 Complaint Counsel's failure to provide documents as required by the scheduling order

was not limited to Dr. Heymsfield, as their other experts likewise produced documents only in
response to subpoenas. Id.



ARGUMENT

DR. MOWREY HAS PRODUCED ALL DOCUMENTS REQUIRED BY THE
COURT' S ORDER. THEREFORE , COMPLAINT COUNSEL' S MOTION
SHOULD BE DENIED

Dr. Mowrey has produced all documents which he read, reviewed, considered and or

relied upon in his capacity as an expert witness, and in connection with the formation of his

expert reportopinion. Given such fact, the fundamental question presented by the Motion is

whether Complaint Counsel' s extremely broad and overreaching interpretation of the Court'

Order (an interpretation which is inconsistent with the Court' s Order Governing Expert

Discovery), is correct. If, indeed, Complaint Counsel' s interpretation is correct, then Dr.

Mowrey concedes that some of the documents Complaint Counsel seek are subject to production

under the OrderY If, however, Complaint Counsel' s interpretation is , as Dr. Mowrey asserts , too

broad and overreaching, then Dr. Mowrey has complied with the Court' s Order and Complaint

Counsel' s Motion should be summarily denied.

As an initial matter, Dr. Mowrey notes that Complaint Counsel' s interpretation of the

Order is inconsistent with the Cour' s Order Governing Expert Discovery, and would impose

upon Dr. Mowrey a burden to produce types of documents which this Court specifically held did

not have to be produced by expert witnesses. For example, in quashing portions of subpoenas

which Respondents served on Complaint Counsel' s experts , Drs. Heymsfield and Eckel , which

subpoenas sought production of inter alia all materials published by Complaint Counsel's

experts , as well as material for puroses of cross-examination, rebuttal or impeachment, this

12 As discussed below, even under Complaint Counsel's interpretation , many of the
documents at issue are not subject to production.



Court specifically ruled that the discovery sought by Respondents was "beyond that permitted by

the Rules , the Scheduling Order, and the Dura Lube case." Order Governing Expert Discovery at

4. The Court further ruled that experts needed only to produce "document(s) considered by an

expert in forming an opinion. . . (,)" and stated that "while reports and testimony, including

deposition testimony, from prior investigations or litigation must be produced, the documents

underlying such reports or testimony are not discoverable in this subsequent litigation unless

such documents were also relied upon or reviewed by a testifing expert in formulating an

opinion in this case. " Id. (emphasis added). Thus , according to the Court' s Order Governng

Expert Discovery, even if expert witnesses possess documents which mention or relate to topics

discussed in their expert report, or which mention or relate to authors of studies cited in the

expert report, the experts are not required to produce those documents unless they were

specifically "relied upon or reviewed by a testifying expert in formulating an opinion in this

case. Id.

Here, Complaint Counsel seek to impose discovery obligations on Dr. Mowrey which go

far beyond those which this Court has held constitutes allowable expert discovery. For example

Complaint Counsel argue that Dr. Mowrey should be required to produce documents which he

reviewed before he was ever designated or asked to be an expert witness , and which he did not

read, review, consider or rely upon after having been designated as an expert witness. Complaint

Counsel also assert that they are entitled to documents which Dr. Mowrey did not read, review

consider or rely upon in connection with forming his expert report/opinion. Such assertions are

inconsistent with the Cour' s ruling that, with the exception of expert reports and testimony given



in prior matters , experts are not required to produce documents that they did not read, consider

review or rely upon in forming their expert report/opinion in this case.

The fact is , Dr. Mowrey has produced all documents he read , reviewed, considered or

relied upon in his capacity as an expert witness , including all documents which he read

reviewed, considered or relied upon in connection with forming his expert report/opinion. Thus

Dr. Mowrey has produced all documents which this Court has ruled must be produced by

testifying experts in general, and all documents which were required to be produced under the

terms of the Order. Accordingly, Complaint Counsel' s Motion should be denied.

II. IN CAMERA REVIEW IS NOT REQilRED -- ANALYSIS OF THE SPECIFIC
DOCUMENTS AT ISSUE

If the Court determines that the Order should be interpreted in a fashion which is

consistent with the Court' s Order Governng Expert Discovery 

-- 

, that Dr. Mowrey is

required to produce all documents that he created, read, reviewed, considered and/or relied upon

in his capacity as an expert witness , including in connection with forming his expert

report/opinion, then no in camera review is required. The fact that Dr. Mowrey has produced all

such documents 13 ends the inquiry, and Complaint Counsel' s Motion should be denied.

Assuming, arguendo that the Cour adopts Complaint Counsel' s broad interpretation of

the Cour' s Order, and thereby imposes upon Dr. Mowrey expert disclosure requirements which

are greater that those imposed on Complaint Counsel and their experts , there is stil no need for

in camera review for any of the documents at issue. This is demonstrated by an analysis of each

of the documents Complaint Counsel seek through their Motion.

13 Dr. Mowrey s testimony on this issue is uncontroverted.







about the date it was sent, he did not read or review the em ail after he had been designated as an

expert witness , and did not read, consider, review or rely upon the email in connection with

preparing his expert report/opinion. Moreover, Complaint Counsel concede in their Motion that

they are not entitled to notes of interviews with potential fact witnesses who are not authors of

any of the scientific studies mentioned in Dr. Mowrey s report. See, e.

g., 

Motion at n.8. Given

such admission, Complaint Counsel are not entitled to obtain a copy of Document Bates No. 94

and there is no need for in camera review of this document.

Document Bates Nos. 166- 167 . This document is an email dated 22 November 2004

from Mr. Watson to Ms. Fobbs , and to Respondents Friedlander and Dr. Mowrey. During the 22

November 2004 time frame , Respondents and their counsel had discussions concernng the

possibility of designating additional expert witnesses. This email identifies certain potential

expert witnesses which Respondents were considering, but did not designate in this case. None

of the persons identified in this document is an author of any of the scientific studies mentioned

in Dr. Mowrey s expert report, and Complaint Counsel have conceded, in footnote no. 8 of their

Motion, that they do not seek production of this document if the persons identified in the

document are not authors of any of the scientific studies referenced in Dr. Mowrey s expert

report. Furthermore , the document does not mention or refer to Dr. Mowrey s expert opinion or

report, and is wholly unrelated to Dr. Mowrey s capacity as an expert witness and his expert

opinion!report. Indeed



admission that they do not seek production of this document if it does not mention any author of

any of the scientific studies mentioned in Dr. Mowrey s expert report, there is no need for 

camera review of this document.

Document Bate Nos. 26- . These documents are a series of emails on 9 August 2004

between Dr. Mowrey s counsel and Ms. Fobbs (and copied to Dr. Mowrey). The emails relate

solely to efforts to arrange a meeting between Dr. Mowrey and the Corporate Respondent's

counsel (a meeting which did not occur), and contain no substantive information of any kind.

See, e.

g., 

Price Supp. Dec. at 14. Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received and reviewed these

documents solely in his capacity as a Respondent in this case , that he did not read, consider



particular email in his capacity as an expert witness , or in connection with his expert

opinion!report. Mowrey Supp. Dec. at' 15.

As indicated above , Dr. Mowrey acknowledges that the scientific study referenced in this

email is related to the Placebo Study referenced in Dr. Mowrey



Document Bates Nos. 92- . These documents are an email string consisting of (i) an

email dated 27 September 2004 from Ms. Fobbs to Respondent Gay s counsel and his paralegal

(and copied to Dr. Mowrey s counsel and the Corporate Respondents ' counsel), (ii) an email

dated 27 September 2004 from Dr. Mowrey s counsel to Ms. Fobbs , and (iii) an email dated 27

September 2004 from Ms. Fobbs to Dr. Mowrey s counsel (and copied to Dr. Mowrey). Dr.

Mowrey acknowledges that the description of these documents on his privilege log says "Daniel

Mowrey CV." Dr. Mowrey further recognizes that, in its Order, the Cour stated that documents

identified on the privilege log with the topic of "Mowrey CV" appear to "fall well within the

scope of discovery applicable to expert witnesses." Order at 3. However, the Court prefaced that

statement by saying that many of the documents as described by the privilege log fall within



Second, these emails were sent to and reviewed by Dr. Mowrey more than two weeks

before Respondents and their counsel had considered or designated Dr. Mowrey as an expert

witness. Thus , they had nothing to do with Dr. Mowrey subsequent role as an expert witness.

Indeed, Respondents did not even discuss or determine to call Dr. Mowrey as an expert witness

until well after these documents were created.

Third , Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received and reviewed these documents solely in his



Mowrey should not be treated differently than Complaint Counsel' s experts with respect to the

scope of expert discovery. 

These additional facts , which provide much more information than the phrase "Daniel

Mowrey CV" which appears on the privilege log, demonstrate that these documents do not fall

within the realm of ordinary expert discovery. Accordingly, there is no basis for production or

for in camera review of these documents.

Document Bates No. 96. This is an em ail from Ms. Fobbs to Dr. Mowrey dated 4

October 2004 , with the subject line "luminaries " and consists of a single phrase request. No

fuher information can be provided concerning the specific request without divulging the request

itself. However, the document was received, read and reviewed by Dr. Mowrey before

Respondents ever discussed or determined to identify Dr. Mowrey as an expert witness.

Furthermore , Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received and reviewed this document solely in his

capacity as a Respondent in this case , that he did not read, consider or review this document after

having been designated as an expert witness, and that he did not read, consider, review or rely

upon this document in his capacity as an expert witness, or in connection with forming his expert

opinion!report. In light of such facts , there is basis for production or an in camera review of this

document.

16 For example, Dr. Heymsfield has been an expert witness on a number of prior
occasions , including on behalf of the Federal Trade Commission. In connection with those
matters Dr. Heymsfield no doubt submitted a CV which, due simply to passage of time , is not as
curent as the CV submitted in this proceeding. Dr. Heymsfield very well may have a copy of
that old CV, which the Federal Trade Commission no doubt possesses. Dr. Mowrey doubts that
Complaint Counsel would agree that Dr. Heymsfield' s old CV is subject to production merely
because it relates to his credentials.





Documents Bates Nos. 135- 141J51- 152, 184



and (ii) Document Bates No. 168 is an email string consisting of the following email: (1) Dr.

Mowrey s counsel to Ms. Fobbs and Mr. Watson (copied to the Corporate Respondents ' counsel

Mr. Feldman & Mr. Nagin, Mr. Gay s counsel Mr. Burbidge & Mr. Shelby, and Respondents Dr.

Mowrey & Friedlander), dated 22 November 2004



Respondents Dr. Mowrey & Friedlander) which is part of Document Bates No. 168 , that email

relates solely to Respondents ' litigation strategy and potential discovery to undertake , and relates

solely to the issue of whether to take the depositions of certain potential fact witnesses. Price

Supp. Dec. at' 22. It is not related to Dr. Mowrey s capacity as an expert witness , or to his

expert report/opinion. Id. Accordingly, they are not subject to production under the Court'

Order Governing Expert Discovery, or under the terms of the Order. Thus , there is no basis for

in camera review of these documents.

Dr. Mowrey acknowledges that, in its Order, the Cour stated that "Respondent must

produce all documents relating to his capacity as an expert witness and studies referenced in his

expert report." Order at 3. However, the Cour also clearly stated that Dr. Mowrey was not

required to produce documents "that do not relate to his capacity as an expert or to the formation

of his expert opinion in this case(. J" Id. Similarly, when ruling on the scope of discovery

permissible with respect to Complaint Counsel' s experts , the Cour made it clear that experts are

not required to produce documents they did not read, review, consider or rely on in their capacity

as an expert witness , or in forming their expert opinion. See, e.

g., 

Order Governng Expert

Discovery at 4. Here , Dr. Mowrey testifies that he received, read and reviewed Documents Bates

Nos. 165 and 168 solely in his capacity as a Respondent in this case, and that he did not read

consider, review or rely upon these documents in his capacity as an expert witness , or in

connection with forming his expert opinion!report. Mowrey Supp. Dec. at' 21. Accordingly,

under the express terms of the Cour' s Order that Dr. Mowrey is not required to produce

documents "that do not relate to his capacity as an expert or to the formation of his expert

opinion in this caseLJ" as well as under the terms of the Court' s prior Order Governing Expert



Discovery, Documents Bates Nos. 165 and 168 are not subject to discovery, and there is

therefore , no basis for in camera review.

III. COMPLAINT COUNSEL'S MOTION FOR SANCTIONS SHOULD BE DENIED

For the reasons set forth above , the documents Complaint Counsel seek are not subject to

production under the Court'



Additionally, even if an administrative law judge determines sanctions should be

imposed



whether the Commission should rely upon his adverse inferences or should instead seek
federal district court enforcement of the subpoena at issue. Once the Commission
determined that interlocutory appeal of the ALJ's order was not appropriate, and
remanded the issue to the ALJ, Continental immediately tendered the disputed
documents. Nevertheless , the ALJ refused to withdraw the adverse inferences entered
earlier, and instead permitted complaint counsel to refuse to accept the disputed
documents. The ALJ should have permitted Continental to tender the disputed
documents within thirt days after the Commission denied Continental's appeal , and
should have withdrawn the adverse inferences once Continental did so. That approach
would have provided a better resolution of the cost issue than the sanctions order, and the
purpose of Rule 3.38(b) is after all to induce parties to supply subpoenaed material. 
should note that if the ALJ had prescribed an additional time period within which to
tender the subpoenaed documents , and Continental had refused to supply them within that
time period, then reliance upon the ALJ's sanctions order --to determine in particular that
Continental sold bread at prices below average variable cost--would have been entirely
appropriate.

Id. at 449-450 (footnotes omitted).

Moreover, the federal courts have made it clear that where any alleged prejudice resulting

from the alleged discovery violations can be cured by allowing additional discovery, sanctions



Fidelity' s failure to make timely and complete disclosure of the notes 20 See also Webb v.

District of Columbia 146 F.3d 964 , 974 (D.C. Cir. 1998) (holding that the prejudice caused by a

litigant' s destruction of documents (not just a failure to produce) could have been cured by

allowing the aggrieved part to conduct additional discovery prior to trial).

DR. MOWREY' S REFUSAL To PRODUCE ALL 40 PAGES OF THE DOCUMENTS
DEMANDED BY COMPLAINT COUNSEL Is NOT UNJUSTIFIED

In this case, Dr. Mowrey s refusal to produce all of the documents demanded by

Complaint Counsel is not unjustified, and thus does not merit the imposition of sanctions. 

discussed above , Dr. Mowrey s refusal to produce all of the documents demanded by Complaint

Counsel is not, as Complaint Counsel would have this Court believe , part of some widespread

refusal to produce large amounts of documents. Rather, it stems from a good faith dispute

concerning the interpretation of the Court' s Order. Dr. Mowrey believes that (a) the Court'

Order should be interpreted in a fashion consistent with the Court' s prior Order Governng

Expert Discovery, (b) the Order required Dr. Mowrey to produce all documents he read

reviewed, considered or relied upon in his capacity as an expert witness or in connection with

forming his expert report/opinion, and (c) the Order does not require Dr. Mowrey to produce

20 Indeed, with the exception of requiring the payment of expenses , this is precisely the
procedure that has been followed in this case, when the Cour ordered Complaint Counsel to
make Dr. Heymsfield available for a third deposition, when it became clear that Dr. Heymsfield
had not produced all documents required by the Cour' s scheduling order and by the a subpoena
which had been served on him. When the Court ordered Complaint Counsel to make Dr.
Heymsfield available for a third day (four hours) of additional deposition due to Dr.
Heymsfield' s failure to produce all documents he had been required to produce, the Cour did not
require Complaint Counsel to reimburse Respondents for the expenses incurred in connection
with deposing Dr. Heymsfield a third time. Where the Cour declined to require Complaint
Counsel to pay such expenses , the Cour should similarly decline to require Dr. Mowrey to pay
such expenses.



documents which are not relevant to his capacity as an expert witness 

-- 

, documents which he

did not read, review, consider or rely upon in his capacity as an expert witness or in connection

with forming his expert report/opinion. Dr. Mowrey s proffered interpretation is consistent with

the Court' s prior Order Governing Expert Discovery, as well as the Court' s express ruling in the

Order that " (tJo the extent that Complaint Counsel' s motion (to compel) is aimed at compelling

production of documents from Dr. Mowrey that do not relate to his capacity as an expert or to the

formation of his expert opinion in this case , Complaint Counsel' s motion is DENIED IN PART."

Order at 3.

That Dr. Mowrey s refusal to produce all 40 pages of the documents Complaint Counsel

demand in their Motion is not unjustified is further demonstrated by the fact that Complaint

Counsel concede in footnote 8 of their Motion that if the documents they demand do not mention



ASSUMING THE COURT ORDERS DOCUMENTS To BE PRODUCED AND
DETERMINES To IMPOSE THE SANCTIONS REQUESTED BY COMPLAINT
COUNSEL, RULE 3.38 REQUIRES THAT DR. MOWREY BE GIVEN AN
OPPORTUNITY To PRODUCE THE DOCUMENTS BEFORE THE SANCTIONS ARE
IMPOSED

Complaint Counsel expressly acknowledge in their Motion that "' Rule 3.38 should be

interpreted to permit the part that fails to supply the required documents to tender them within a

reasonable period of time following the issuance of an order imposing sanctions.

'" 

ITT Corp.

104 F.T.C. at 449 (emphasis in original). See, e.

g., 

Motion at 19, n. 9. Accordingly, in the

event the Court orders Dr. Mowrey to produce additional documents , and in the event the Court

also determines that Dr. Mowrey s refusal to produce all 40 documents was unjustified and

merits the imposition of sanctions , Dr. Mowrey should be allowed a reasonable amount oftime

to produce the documents before any proposed sanctions take effect.
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Laureen Kapin, Walter C. Gross , III, Joshuas S. Milard
Edwin Rodriquez , Laura Schneider
16 August 2005
Page 2

Finally, please let me know within five (5) business days whether you intend to
take Dr. Mowrey s deposition concerning the documents produced with this letter.

Best regards

TERS SCOFIELD PRICE

7ro
Ronald F. Price

cc: Respondents ' Counsel (via email)
Mitchell K. Friedlander (via email)
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EXHIBIT 





Joshuas S. Millard
22 August 2005
Page 2

Document Bates No. 175 : Bates Nos. 146 - 165 , of the documents produced on
10 January 2005.

Document Bates No. 180 : Bates Nos. 135 - 145 , of the documents produced on
10 January 2005.

Document Bates No. 186 : Bates Nos. 54 - 134 , of the documents produced on
10 January 2005. 

Document Bates No. 187 : Bates Nos. 39 - 53 , of the documents produced on January 2005. 
Document Bates No. 188 : Bates Nos. 1 - 16 , of the documents produced on 10

January 2005.

Document Bates NO. 1S9 : Bates Nos. 35 - 38 , of the documents produced on 10
January 2005.

Document Bates No. 190 : Bates Nos. 17 - 34, of the documents produced on 10
January 2005.

With respect to the reference to the Colker/Kalman study in Document Bates No.
171 , I indicated in my letter of 16 ALJgust 2005 "that the fact that a particular document
is produced herewith does not mean that the entirety of the document necessarily
relates to Dr. Mowrey s capacity as an expert witness." Furthermore , as stated above,
while I acknowledge that the Colker/Kalman study referenced in document bates no.
171 is also referenced in Dr. Mowrey s report, the reference to that study in this
particular email was unrelated to Dr. Mowrey s report. In any event , as you are aware,
the study referenced in this particular document was produced as part of Exhibit A to
Dr. Mowrey s report, and was previously produced in this matter by the "corporate
respondents. See, e. R0000160 - R0000172. 

Having provided the above information and the accompanying docl,ments , I

confirm to you that to the best of my knowledge , information and belief, all of the
attachments referenced in the documents listed on Dr. Mowrey s privilege log which
were produced on 16 August 2005 have been produced to you (although we have not
reproduced Complaint Counsel' s expert reports and rebuttal expert reports which were
forwarded by email to Dr. Mowrey). If you believe there are attachments that have not
been produced, please identify any such ones in question so I can investigate. 

Turning now to your demand that Dr. Mowrey produce the other documents
identified in your letter of 17 August 2005 , those documents were not created , received





Joshuas S. Millard



Joshuas S. Millard
22 August 2005
Page 5

investigation concerning certain witnesses in this case. They have absolutely nothing
do to with Dr. Mowrey s capacity as an expert witness.

Documents Bates Nos. 135-141. 151-152, and 184 -- Part of the process which
any lawyer goes through in investigating a case is to become as familiar as possible
with the parties to the case , the parties ' backgrounds , and the background of important
fact witnesses. These documents relate to my investigation of the background of my
client. They were generated , sent , received and/or viewed by Dr. Mowrey solely in his
capacity as a Respondent in this case.

Documents Bates Nos. 159-161 -- These documents refer to information
requested relating to potential responses to Complaint Counsel's third set of
interrogatories. 

Documents Bates No. 54- -- This document was created almost two months
before Respondents discussed or determined to identify Dr. Mowrey as an expert
witness. This alone demonstrates that the document is not related to Dr. Mowrey
capacity as an expert witness. The document was sent to Dr. Mowrey solely in his
capacity as a Respondent, and had absolutely nothing to do with his capacity as an
expert witness , which capacity was not even determined until almost two months later.

. , 

Documents Bates Nos. 165 and 168 -- These documents are unrelated to Dr.
Mowrey s capacity as an expert witness , and are unrelClted to his expert report. While 
acknowledge that the Colker/Kalman study referenced in these documents is a study
discussed in Dr. Mowrey s report, these two particular documents are unrelated to the
report. Rather, during this time frame Respondents and their counsel were engaged in
discussions concerning the possibility of deposing certain fact witnesses. These
documents relate solely to those discussions, and are unrelated to Dr. Mowrey
capacity as an expert witness or expert report.

In summary, your demand that Dr. Mowrey produce additional documents , all of
which were created , received and/or reviewed by Dr. Mowrey solely in his capacity as a
Respondent, and which do not relate to Dr. Mowrey s expert report or opinion, or his
capacity as an expert witness , is rejected. You are not entitled to receive those
documents under the Court's order, and they will not be produced. Dr Mowrey has
produced "all documents that relate to his capacity as an expert witness , including

2 Your letter referenced the fact that Dr. Mowrey produced document bates no. 121 , which
document had a description on Dr. Mowrey s privilege log of " information requested. " That was the on 
document produced which had the description of " information requested" because it is the only document
with the description of " information requested" which was received or reviewed by Dr. Mowrey in his
capacity as an expert witness , as opposed to his capacity as a Respondent.



Joshuas S. Milard
22 August 2005
Page 6

communications with his attorn y, the other Respondents , and the other Respondents
attorneys" and has fully complied with the Court's order. Dr. Mowrey will appear for his
deposition on 30 August 2005.

Best regards

PETERS SCOFIELD PRICE
R. ssional Corporation

Ronald F. Price

cc: Respondents ' Counsel
Mitchell K. Friedlander



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I HEREBY CERTIFY that a true and correct copy of the foregoing RESPONDENT DANIEL

B. MOWREY' S MEMORANDUM OPPOSING COMPLAINT COUNSEL' S MOTION FOR IN CAMERA

REVIEW AND FOR SANCTIONS was provided to the following as follows:

(1) on iseptember 2005 , the original and two (2) paper copies sent via Federal
Express overnight delivery, and on&- 


